IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 18-0955

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee, vs. GUILLERMO AVALOS VALDEZ, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY

The Honorable John. D. Ackerman

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Scott M. Wadding, AT0010447 KEMP & SEASE The Rumely Building 104 Southwest Fourth Street, Suite A Des Moines, Iowa 50309 Phone: (515) 883-2222 Fax: (515) 883-2233

swadding@kempsease.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is a direct appeal by Guillermo Avalos Valdez ("Valdez") following the District Court's sentence of imprisonment following Valdez's guilty plea and conviction of Possession with Intent to Deliver a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in violation of Iowa Code 124.401(1)(c)(5).

B. Course of Proceedings.

The State and Valdez entered into a plea agreement in which Valdez agreed to enter a plea of guilty to Possession with Intent to Deliver Marijuana in exchange for the State's agreement to dismiss a drug stamp tax violation. (APP-7–8, Plea Agreement, at ¶¶ 3, 5). The parties were free to present evidence and arguments concerning the sentence to be imposed on the Possession with Intent Charge. (APP-7–8, Plea Agreement, at ¶ 4).

Valdez entered a guilty plea on May 22, 2018. The Court accepted Valdez's guilty plea and immediately proceeded to sentencing at Valdez's request. (APP-22–23, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 26:9–27:2). After hearing arguments from the parties, the Court

rejected Valdez's request for probation and sentenced him to a tenyear indeterminate term of imprisonment. (APP-27, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 31:1-9; APP-35-41, Judgment and Sentence).

Valdez filed a timely notice of appeal on May 31, 2018. (APP-45, Notice of Appeal).

C. Disposition of the Case in District Court.

On May 22, 2018, the Court entered a Judgment and Sentence accepting Valdez's guilty plea on the charge of Possession with Intent to Deliver Marijuana, denied Valdez's request for probation, and sentenced Valdez to an indeterminate term of ten (10) years in prison. (APP-33, 35, Judgment and Sentence).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guillermo Avalos Valdez ("Valdez") was born in Mexico and brought to the United States without paperwork as a child in 1997. (CONF. APP-30, PSI at 5). In the twenty years Valdez has lived in the United States, Valdez's only conviction before the instant offense was a vandalism conviction for which he received probation. (CONF. APP-27, PSI at 2).

In January 2018, the State charged Valdez with (1) aiding and abetting Manuela Cibrian Lopez with possession with intent to deliver 50-100 kilograms of marijuana in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(1)(c)(5), a class C felony, and (2) a drug tax stamp violation, a class D felony. (APP-4, Trial Information at 1). In May, the State and Valdez reached a plea agreement in which Valdez agreed to plead guilty to the possession with intent charge in exchange for the State's agreement to dismiss the drug tax stamp charge. (APP-7–8, Plea Agreement ¶¶ 3–5). The plea agreement permitted the State and Valdez to present evidence and argument for the appropriate sentence. (APP-7–8, Plea Agreement ¶ 4).

A Pre-Sentence Investigation Report (PSI) was prepared before sentencing. The PSI stated, among other things, that Valdez scored "in the low category for future violence," the "low category for future victimization," and would be supervised at the "low normal level of supervision should he be supervised in the community." (CONF. APP-33, PSI at 8). The PSI also stated that Valdez was an undocumented immigrant and was being held on an Immigration and Customs Enforcement hold. (CONF. APP-33, PSI at 8).

A plea and sentencing hearing was held on May 22, 2018. The only disputed issue at sentencing was whether Valdez should be sentenced to prison or probation. The State recommended prison in part because Valdez had an "immigration hold which will make it difficult for him to complete probation." (APP-24–25, Plea and Sentencing Tr. at 28:23–29:4).

Valdez's trial counsel asked for probation. (APP-25, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 29:9–10). Trial counsel noted that the PSI indicated Valdez "has a low category for future violence, a low category for future victimization, and that the IRR would indicate he could be

supervised initially on a low/normal level in the community." (APP-25, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 29:10–16). Addressing Valdez's immigration status, trial counsel stated:

I realize he has an immigration hold, but he, essentially, only has one prior conviction for vandalism back in 2008; so he really doesn't have a criminal history to speak of at all.

With probation, I realize he's going to be taken into custody by immigration. He has the hold. It's likely he will be deported. I know there are times, at least in federal court, where we have made a term of probation "You shall not illegally re-enter the United States" so that if he ever comes back to the United States he will be in violation of his probation and he would be brought back to court.

He's requesting that he be given that opportunity to deal with his immigration and let them make that determination. Otherwise, other than the quantity involved here, if he was here as a United States citizen, I think that probation would be something that would definitely be a possibility. So we are asking that he be treated the same as someone else would and let immigration handle the immigration consequences that he is aware of.

(APP-25, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 29:17–30:12).

The district court then sentenced Valdez to prison for an indeterminate term of ten years. (APP-27, Plea and Sentencing Tr. at 31:5–7). After noting the charge (possession with intent to deliver 50-100 kilograms of marijuana), the district court expressly

stated that the reason it denied Valdez probation was based on Valdez's immigration status:

I don't think probation would be appropriate with pleading to this charge given his immigration status. He won't be available if I were to award probation, as I understand it. So I don't think probation is an appropriate sentence here.¹

(APP-29, Plea and Sentencing at 33:1–6).

Accordingly, the district court entered its Judgment and Sentence and sentenced Valdez to prison for an indeterminate term of ten years. (APP-32, Judgment and Sentence). Valdez now appeals. (APP-45, Notice of Appeal).

The district court also made reference to other factors during sentencing. (APP-28–29, Plea and Sentencing at Tr. 32:21–33:13; APP-41, Judgment and Sentence at 10). Unlike its express statement that probation would not be appropriate based on Valdez's immigration status, however, the district court did not state how, if at all, the other factors impacted its decision to deny probation. (APP-28–29, Plea and Sentencing at Tr. 32:21–33:13).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING VALDEZ TO PRISON RATHER THAN PROBATION BASED ON VALDEZ'S IMMIGRATION STATUS

A. Introduction.

Iowa is an indeterminate sentencing jurisdiction in which the determination whether a criminal defendant should be sentenced to probation or prison is paramount. Given the prevalence of plea negotiations, this issue (probation v. prison) is often the primary, if not only, disputed issue in a criminal case. In this case, the district court erred by basing its decision to sentence Valdez to prison on Valdez's immigration status and by effectively employing a per se rule that requires prison for non-U.S. Citizens who are confronted with the possibility of deportation under federal immigration law. Valdez's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing.

B. Standard of Review.

The district court's sentencing decision must be vacated when "the defendant demonstrates an abuse of the trial court's discretion or a defect in the sentencing procedure such as the trial court's N.W.2d 677, 678 (Iowa 1998). Additionally, "if a court in determining a sentence uses any improper consideration, resentencing of the defendant is required, even if it was merely a secondary consideration." *State v. Lovell*, 857 N.W.2d 241, 242 (Iowa 2014).

The Court reviews constitutional questions de novo. *State v. Storm*, 898 N.W.2d 140, 144 (Iowa 2017).

C. Error Preservation.

Defense counsel did not object to the district court's sentence in the trial proceeds below. However, a claim for an improper or illegal sentence need not be raised before the district court for error to be preserved. See State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Iowa 1980); State v. Luckett, 387 N.W.2d 298, 301 (Iowa 1986) ("It was not necessary for defendant to either object to the sentence or raise the point by way of a post-trial motion. Error was not waived and we accordingly address the merits of the assignment."); State v. Ohnmacht, 342 N.W.2d 838, 843 (Iowa 1983) ("Void sentences are not subject to the usual concepts of waiver, whether from a failure

to seek review or other omissions of error preservation."); State v. Wilson, 294 N.W.2d 824, 826 (Iowa 1980); see also State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994).²

D. Discussion.

1. Valdez's Sentence Runs Afoul the Due Process and Privileges and Immunities Clauses of the Iowa Constitution Because the Record Fails to Establish the Denial of Probation was Based on Anything Other than Valdez's Immigration Status.³

Undocumented immigrants are entitled to the protections afforded by the due process⁴ and privileges and immunities clauses⁵ of the Iowa and Federal Constitutions. *See, e.g., Plyler v. Doe,* 457 U.S. 202, 210–16, 102 S. Ct. 2382, 2391–2394, 72 L. Ed. 2d 953 (1982); *Reno v. Flores,* 507 U.S. 292, 306, 113 S. Ct. 1439, 1449,

To the extent error was not preserved, Valdez asserts his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the district court's sentence and suffered prejudice for the reasons stated below. Iowa Constitution, art. I, § 10; U.S. Const. Amend. VI; *Simmons v. State Pub. Defender*, 791 N.W.2d 69, 75 (Iowa 2010).

Valdez also asserts that his sentence violates the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the United States Constitution.

[&]quot;[N]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." Iowa Const. art I, § 9.

[&]quot;All laws of a general nature shall have a uniform operation; the general assembly shall not grant to any citizen, or class of citizens, privileges or immunities, which, upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens." Iowa Const. art I, § 6.

123 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1993). Iowa courts have not addressed whether, and to what extent, the district court may base its sentencing decision on the defendant's immigration status, but decisions in other jurisdictions offer guidance.

The law is unsettled on the extent to which a defendant's immigration status is relevant to determining if a defendant should be sentenced to prison or probation. See State v. Cerritos-Valdez, 889 N.W.2d 605, 611 (Neb. 2017) (stating "the law in this area is not well settled"). In Minnesota, for example, the Minnesota Court of Appeals held that a defendant's immigration status should play no role in sentencing decisions. See State v. Mendoza, 638 N.W.2d 480, 484 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002) ("[P]possible deportation is not a consideration criminal in sentencing.").6 Other proper jurisdictions, on the other hand, permit the trial court to take immigration status into account for various purposes. See, e.g., Cerritos-Valdez, 889 N.W.2d at 611; People v. Cesar, 14 N.Y.S.3d 100, 105–106 (Sup. Ct. App. Div. 2015); Trujillo v. State, 698 S.E.2d

The Minnesota Supreme Court, however, has reserved the issue. See State v. Kebaso, 713 N.W.2d 317, 324 (Minn. 2006).

350, 353–54 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010); People v. Hernandez-Clavel, 186 P.3d 96, 98–99 (Colo. Ct. App. 2008); People v. Cisneros, 100 Cal. Rptr. 2d 784, 188 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000); see also State v. Zavala-Ramos, 840 P.2d 1314, 1316 (Or. Ct. App. 1992) ("Immigration status is per se not relevant" but may be considered in some circumstances); Yemson v. United States, 764 A.2d 816, 819 (D.C. 2001); see also United States v. Flores-Olague, 717 F.3d 526, 535 (7th Cir. 2013); United States v. Loaiza-Sanchez, 622 F.3d 939, 942 (8th Cir. 2000).

Despite the conflicting views among jurisdictions, a common thread emerges from cases that allow a defendant's immigration status to be considered: A defendant's immigration status may not be the *sole factor* that the district court relies on when determining whether to sentence the defendant to prison. *See, e.g., Cerritos-Valdez*, 889 N.W.2d at 611; *Cesar*, 14 N.Y.S.3d at 106; *Trujillo v. State*, 698 S.E.2d at 354; *Hernandez-Clavel*, 186 P.3d at 99; *State v. Martinez*, 165 P.3d at 1057; *Cisneros*, 100 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 785; *State v. Zavala-Ramos*, 840 P.2d 1314, 1316 (Or. Ct. App. 1992).

One illustrative case applying this "sole factor" framework is People v. Cesar, 14 N.Y.S. 3d 100 (Sup. Ct. App. Div. 2015). In that case, the trial court sentenced the defendant to prison in lieu of incarceration. During sentencing, the trial court reasoned that prison was appropriate because "if the defendant were to be placed on probation, he would be in immediate violation of such sentence since probation typically prohibits the violation of any law, and the defendant's undocumented status would constitute a violation of federal immigration law." 14 N.Y.S.3d at 103. The defendant appealed, asserting that the court's reliance on his immigration status was improper and violated his due process and equal protection rights under the state and federal constitutions. *Id.* at 104. On appeal, the *Cesar* court reversed and vacated the sentence.

After noting that the issue was one of first impression in New York, the *Cesar* court held

it is impermissible for a sentencing court to refuse to consider a sentence of probation for an undocumented defendant solely on the basis of his or her immigration status. Doing so violates the Due Process and Equal Protection clauses of the Federal and New York constitutions by treating certain defendants differently from others based upon their undocumented presence in this state.

Id. at 106. The *Cesar* court, applying its holding to the facts of the case, vacated the defendant's sentence because the trial court denied the defendant probation based on the defendant's status as an undocumented immigrant. *Id.* at 107.

In this case, even if Valdez's immigration status should have been considered at all, the district court improperly based its decision to sentence Valdez to prison on his immigration status under *Cesar* and similar authority. During sentencing in this case, the district court expressly explained on the record that he sentenced Valdez to prison in lieu of probation because of Valdez's immigration status, stating:

I don't think probation would be appropriate with pleading to this charge *given his immigration status*. He won't be available if I were to award probation, as I understand it. So I don't think probation is an appropriate sentence here.

(APP-29, Plea and Sentencing Tr. 33:1–6 (emphasis added)).

Further, the district court's passing reference to other sentencing factors⁷ is insufficient to satisfy due process and equal

For example, after explaining its rationale for imposing prison, above, the court noted "I've considered the nature of the offense committed and the contents of the presentence investigation

protection principles. The district court unequivocally stated that it was sentencing Valdez to prison in lieu of probation "given [Valdez's] immigration status." (APP-29, Plea and Sentencing Tr. at 33:1-6 (emphasis added)). The court, however, made only general references to other sentencing factors and failed to explain how those factors impacted the probation vs. prison sentencing decision. Those references are simply insufficient to affirm Valdez's sentence given the totality of circumstances in this case, particularly the court's comments concerning Valdez's immigration status. See State v. Thacker, 862 N.W.2d 402, 408 (Iowa 2015) ("A terse and succinct statement is sufficient, however, only when the reasons for the exercise are obvious in light of the statement and record before the court." (emphasis added); State v. Hill, 878

_

report and the plea agreement." (APP-29, Plea and Sentencing Tr. at 33:7–14).

There is also no indication that the district court considered other options or invited counsel to offer other viable solutions to address the court's concerns arising from Valdez's immigration status. See Trujillo, 698 S.E.2d at 355 (noting that the trial court "invited [the defendant's] counsel to offer viable solutions that addressed its concerns" and "made clear that it had considered—and rejected—the option of waiving those conditions with which [the defendant] could not comply.").

N.W.2d 269, 275 (Iowa 2016) (stating sentencing courts should "give more detailed reasons for a sentence specific to the individual defendant and crimes"); see also Martinez v. State, 961 P.2d 143, 145 (Nev. 1998) ("We cannot, however, determine from the record whether the district court actually based its sentencing decision on appellants' nationality. The record reveals that substantial factual evidence supported the district court's decision to impose the maximum sentence. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court of the United States and numerous Circuit Courts of Appeal have emphasized the importance of not only doing justice, but also insuring that justice satisfies the appearance of justice." (citations and internal quotation marks omitted)).

Therefore, under *Cesar* and the view of several jurisdictions addressing the issue, Valdez's sentence should be vacated because the record is inadequate to show that court's denial of probation was based on anything other than Valdez's immigration status.

2. <u>Alternatively, the Iowa Supreme Court Should Recognize A</u> More Muscular Framework Under the Iowa Constitution.

Assuming the district court's passing reference to various sentencing factors was sufficient to satisfy the "sole factor"

framework (it is not), Valdez respectfully requests the Iowa Supreme Court to adopt a more muscular test that recognizes greater flexibility and, at a minimum, prohibits the district court from denying a criminal defendant probation when the primary reason for the sentencing determination is the defendant's immigration status. As this case illustrates, if passing references to other sentencing factors is adequate to overcome the sole-factor test, a muscular standard is required if the due process and equal protection clauses are to have any meaning in the sentencing context. See Thacker, 862 N.W.2d at 410; Hill, 878 N.W.2d at 275.

The Iowa Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized its authority to interpret the Iowa Constitution to provide greater protection than the Federal Constitution. In the equal protection context, the Court has consistently engaged in an independent analysis under the Iowa Constitution. See, e.g., Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 906 (Iowa 2009); Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa v. Fitzgerald (RACI), 675 N.W.2d 1, 7 (Iowa 2004). The Court has also recognized its authority to independently interpret the Iowa Constitution's due process clause. See, e.g., Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State, 915 N.W.2d 206, 233 (Iowa 2018) (interpreting article I, section 9 and observing "The provision" is 'nearly identical in scope, import and purpose to the Federal Due Process Clause. Despite this likeness, we jealously guard it as our right and duty to differ from the Supreme Court, in appropriate cases, when construing analogous provisions under the Iowa Constitution.").

A more muscular approach under the Iowa Constitution is also supported by the tenuous link between the prospect of deportation and the offense in question. In *United States v. Alvarez-Cardenas*, the Ninth Circuit observed:

The possibility of deportation does not speak to the offense in question, nor does it speak to the offender's character A defendant's crime is no less serious, nor is his history of past actions changed because he may be subjected to deportation at some point in the future. In addition, were we to find that merely being an alien who is subject to possible deportation should affect a sentencing decision, we would be treating aliens differently simply because they are not citizens of this country.

902 F.2d 734, 737 (9th Cir. 1990).

Additionally, greater protection under the Iowa Constitution is warranted in light of the constitutional overtones arising from other protected interests at play when an immigrant is sentenced. A person's immigration status is intertwined with that person's citizenship and national origin, which cannot constitutionally be the basis for imposing a harsher sentence. See, e.g., United States v. Gomez, 797 F.2d 417, 419 (7th Cir. 1986) (observing that giving defendant harsher sentence based on nationality "obviously would be unconstitutional"); United States v. Borrero-Isaza, 887 F.2d

1349, 1356 (9th Cir. 1989) (vacating sentence where district court imposed sentence based on national origin of defendant). Some courts have also observed that it would be unconstitutional to impose harsher sentences based on the defendant's alienage. See United States v. Onwuemene, 933 F.2d 650, 651 (8th Cir. 1991) ("[S]entencing an offender on the basis of factors such as race, national origin, or alienage violates the Constitution."); 10 Gomez, 797 F.2d at 419 ("The government specifically disavowed any suggestion that the defendant or others similarly situated be treated more harshly solely because of their nationality or alien status. That obviously would be unconstitutional.").

This overlap is reflected in recent legal scholarship. Commentators have recognized that there is a growing trend in which non-U.S. Citizens are receiving harsher sentences than U.S. citizens. One recent study concluded that "Non-U.S. citizens are

Onwuemene was called into question in *United States v. Loaiza-Sanchez*, 622 F.3d 939, 941 (8th Cir. 2010), which noted, *inter alia*, that the statements relied on by the *Onwuemene* court were made in pre-Guidelines decisions. Unlike the federal criminal justice system, however, Iowa has not adopted sentencing guidelines.

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