IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-0955

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

GUILLERMO AVALOS VALDEZ, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN D. ACKERMAN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov

PATRICK JENNINGS Woodbury County Attorney

KRISTINE TIMMINS Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Properly Declined to Suspend the Sentence Because Valdez Was Caught Trafficking 184 Pounds of Drugs and Faced Imminent Deportation if Released on Probation.

Preservation of Error

"[E]rrors in sentencing may be challenged on direct appeal even in the absence of an objection in the district court." *State v. Lathrop*, 781 N.W.2d 288, 293 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

"Because the sentence imposed does not fall outside statutory limits, our review is for abuse of discretion." *State v. Jose*, 636 N.W.2d 38, 41 (Iowa 2001).

Discussion

Defendant Valdez is in prison for trafficking 184 pounds of marijuana. Although the sentencing court mentioned his "immigration status," Valdez's status as an undocumented immigrant facing impending deportation was a proper factor to consider. And contrary to Valdez's protests, his undocumented status was not the "sole factor" or "primary reason" the sentencing court denied probation. Because Valdez fails to demonstrate an abuse of discretion, this Court should not interfere with his sentence.

A. Valdez's impending deportation was a proper factor to consider when denying probation.

Valdez will be deported. He was convicted for trafficking 184 pounds of marijuana (Minutes, Fay report at 1–4; Conf. App. 6–9), which is the type of offense that makes his deportation "virtually mandatory." See Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 359 (2010). When Valdez pleaded guilty, he was subject to a "hold" from Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) and if released on probation, "he's going to be taken into custody by immigration." Tr. p. 29, lines 21–22; App. 25. His attorney, who practices immigration law, said Valdez "likely" will be deported and had only "a very slim chance, if any" of avoiding removal. Tr. p. 17, line 23 – p. 18, line 4, p. 18, lines 23–25, p. 29, line 23; App. 13–14, 25. His conviction constitutes an aggravated felony under immigration law, which subjects him to deportation, mandatory detention, disqualification from cancellation of removal, and a permanent bar to reentry. Tr. p. 18, lines 12–19; App. 14.

Valdez's impending deportation made him a poor candidate for probation. Probationers must comply with conditions of probation designed "to promote rehabilitation of the defendant or protection of the community." Iowa Code § 907.6. Probationers from Woodbury

County are supervised by officers from the Third Judicial District Department of Correctional Services, who ensure the probationer seeks employment, gains educational assistance, obtains treatment, pays court costs and restitution, maintains regular contact with probation officials, and follows any other conditions imposed by the court. Third Jud. Dist. Dep't of Corr. Serv., Annual Report FY 2018, at 18.1 If Valdez had been granted probation and then deported to Mexico, there would be no way for an Iowa probation officer to monitor his progress toward gaining lawful employment, going to school, obtaining drug treatment, or complying with any other terms of his probation. And Valdez points to no authority permitting transfer of probation supervision to Mexico. See Iowa Code ch. 907B (adopting the Interstate Compact for Adult Offender Supervision, which allows transferring probation supervision to "a state of the United States, the District of Columbia, and any territorial possessions of the United States," but not to a foreign nation). Rather, Valdez's only proposal was to make "a term of probation 'You shall not illegally re-enter the United States' so that if he ever comes

¹ Available at https://doc.iowa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2018/11/3rd district annual report fy2018.pdf (last visited Jan. 31, 2019).

back to the United States he will be in violation of his probation and he would be brought back to court." Tr. p. 29, line 23 – p. 30, line 3; App. 25–26. Such an arrangement would have left Valdez unpunished for his significant drug-trafficking offense and would not have fulfilled the rehabilitative goals of probation. Because probation is not a viable option for deported individuals, the district court did not abuse its discretion by considering Valdez's imminent-deportation status.

Valdez's imminent-deportation status should not be conflated with alienage, national origin, or undocumented status. Valdez places himself in the broader category of "undocumented immigrants" (Def. Br. at 17), but he actually belongs to a narrower category of undocumented immigrants facing certain and imminent deportation. The district court's exercise of discretion transcended Valdez's foreign citizenship and his lack of papers to cross the border. It specified the concern that Valdez "won't be available if I were to award probation." Tr. p. 33, lines 3–4; App. 29. Accordingly, this Court should confine its review to consideration of Valdez's deportation status, not a generalized "immigration status," citizenship, national origin, or ethnicity. See, e.g., United States v. Lopez-Salas, 266 F.3d 842, 846

n.1 (8th Cir. 2001) ("[A] person's legal status as a deportable alien is not synonymous with national origin." (citing *United States v*. *Restrepo*, 999 F.2d 640, 644 (2d Cir. 1993))).

Even if the Court considers the broader category of "immigration status," Valdez admits that "other jurisdictions . . . permit the trial court to take immigration status into account for various purposes." Def. Br. at 18. Those reasons include:

Deported people cannot comply with the normal conditions of probation or achieve the rehabilitative purpose of probation. See, e.g., People v. Sanchez, 235 Cal. Rptr. 264, 267 (Cal. Ct. App. 1987) ("Obviously, a convicted illegal alien felon, upon deportation, would be unable to comply with any terms and conditions of probation beyond the serving of any period of local incarceration imposed."); People v. Espinoza, 132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 670, 675 (Cal. Ct. App. 2003) (finding no abuse of discretion "where the defendant faces a substantial likelihood of imminent deportation, such that his probation cannot effectively be conditioned on completion of a drug treatment program"); People v. Hernandez-Clavel, 186 P.3d 96, 100 (Colo. Ct. App. 2008) (noting that "because it appeared that defendant was likely to be deported, he could not benefit from

participation in probation and would suffer no consequences for his criminal behavior"); *State v. Svay*, 828 A.2d 790, 794 (Me. 2003) ("The consequence of deportation may be considered by a sentencing court because, among other reasons, the impact that a particular sentence will have on the offender is relevant to the offender's likelihood of rehabilitation."); *State v. Morales-Aguilar*, 855 P.2d 646, 648 (Or. Ct. App. 1993) (noting that "because [the defendant] faced immediate deportation, imposition of the presumptive probationary sentence would not serve to accomplish the goals of the guidelines").

• Undocumented immigrants—especially those facing deportation—may lack ties to the community necessary for reintegration into law-abiding society. *See*, *e.g.*, *People v. Cisneros*, 100 Cal. Rptr. 2d 784, 788 (Cal. Ct. App. 2000) ("An illegal alien may be a poor candidate for probation given typically limited ties to the community and the prospect of deportation."); *United States v. Flores-Olague*, 717 F.3d 526, 535 (7th Cir. 2013) (noting the defendant's undocumented status and his inability to speak English "are relevant to a fairly determined sentence because they reflect the strength of the defendant's ties to the community as

- they relate to the likelihood of his successful post-incarceration adjustments to society").
- Undocumented immigrants who are not deported cannot gain lawful employment. *See*, *e.g.*, *Hernandez-Clavel*, 186 P.3d at 100 (noting the defendant "could not maintain lawful employment and, consequently, could not successfully meet that condition of probation"); *Trujillo v. State*, 698 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010) (recognizing the sentencing court "could not order Trujillo, an illegal alien, to obtain suitable employment—a standard condition of probation—without ordering him to violate the law and/or be an accessory to any employer who would hire him in violation of the law").
- Disregard for immigration law could bear on the person's willingness to comply with probation. *See*, *e.g.*, *Yemson v. United States*, 764 A.2d 816, 819 (D.C. 2001) ("This does not mean . . . that a sentencing court, in deciding what sentence to impose, must close its eyes to the defendant's status as an illegal alien and his history of violating the law, including any law related to immigration."); *Sanchez v. State*, 891 N.E.2d 174, 176–77 (Ind. Ct. App. 2008) ("[A]s the trial court properly noted, he is an illegal

alien and his daily disregard for the laws of this country also speaks to his character."); *State v. Zavala-Ramos*, 840 P.2d 1314, 1316 (Or. Ct. App. 1992) ("Defendant had been illegally in the United States at least twice. The court could consider that pattern of conduct in determining whether it is likely that a probationary sentence would serve the purposes of the guidelines to protect the public and punish the offender."); *State v. Salas Gayton*, 882 N.W.2d 459, 472 (Wis. 2016) ("Because Salas Gayton has previously engaged in conduct contrary to federal immigration law, his prior disregard for the law was an acceptable factor for the circuit court to include in its assessment of his character.").

These cases offer persuasive reasoning, so this Court should join the national consensus that permits a sentencing court to consider the defendant's undocumented status when denying probation.

This Court should not follow the outlier view expressed by the Minnesota Court of Appeals. In *State v. Mendoza*, 638 N.W.2d 480, 484 (Minn. Ct. App. 2002), the court concluded "that possible deportation because of immigration status is not a proper consideration in criminal sentencing," reasoning that "it would be considering a possible collateral consequence . . . which is beyond the

control of the district court and which may or may not occur . . . " Mendoza's holding is not persuasive in Valdez's case. First, it is not even clear that the Minnesota Supreme Court would follow Mendoza's holding. See State v. Kebaso, 713 N.W.2d 317, 324, n.7 (Minn. 2006) (making clear "we do not address its broad assertion that 'possible deportation because of immigration status is not a proper consideration in criminal sentencing" and stating "we leave resolution of this broader question for another day"). Second, Mendoza's reference to deportation being a "collateral" consequence predates more recent cases recognizing that certain immigration consequences "will almost certainly follow" convictions for crimes such as drug trafficking. See Diaz v. State, 896 N.W.2d 723, 730 (Iowa 2017) (interpreting Padilla, 559 U.S. 356). Third, Valdez's circumstances are distinguishable. Unlike Mendoza that involved "possible deportation" "which may or may not occur" (Mendoza, 638 N.W.2d at 484), Valdez has a "very slim chance, if any" of avoiding the immigration consequences of his drug trafficking conviction. Tr. p. 18, lines 12–25; App. 14; see also Tr. p. 29, lines 17–23; App. 25 (noting Valdez had an ICE hold, would be taken into custody, and would "likely" be deported). Thus, even if Mendoza were a correct

statement of the law, it would not apply undocumented immigrants like Valdez who face imminent deportation.

The district court did not abuse its discretion by considering Valdez's "immigration status." He is a convicted drug trafficker who faced immediate detention and deportation if he were released on probation. And once deported, Valdez could not be supervised to ensure he was fulfilling the purposes of probation. That imminent-deportation status was relevant to the decision whether to grant probation, so this Court should not interfere.

B. Valdez's undocumented status was not the "sole factor" or "primary reason" for denying probation.

Valdez fails to meet the parameters of his own proposed tests. First, he notes the "common thread" from other states that the "defendant's immigration status may not be the *sole factor* that the district court relies on when determining whether to sentence the defendant to prison." Def. Br. at 19 (citing *State v. Cerritos-Valdez*, 889 N.W.2d 605, 611 (Neb. 2017)). Later, he proposes a "more muscular test" under Iowa law that "prohibits the district court from denying a criminal defendant probation when the primary reason for the sentencing determination is the defendant's immigration status."

Def. Br. at 23–24. However, Valdez overlooks the district court's sentencing explanation that forecloses his "sole factor" and "primary reason" tests.

Valdez's analysis under both tests rests on an incomplete reading of the sentencing court's statement of reasons. He contends the court gave only "passing reference to other sentencing factors." Def. Br. at 21, 24. It is true that the court referenced general factors such as the maximum opportunity for rehabilitation, protection of the community, the nature of the offense, the presentence investigation report, and the plea agreement. Tr. p. 33, lines 7–14, Judgment (5/22/2018) at 10; App. 29, 41. But there was more to the court's explanation than those succinct statements.

Valdez was convicted of a serious drug-trafficking offense. He admitted that he and his accomplice knowingly transported over 50 kilograms of marijuana with the intent to deliver. Tr. p. 21, line 24 – p. 23, line 25; App. 17–19. He was at the wheel of a large SUV filled with 184 pounds of marijuana packaged in numerous heat-sealed bags. Minutes (Fay report at 4, Jansen report at 12–13); Conf. App. 9, 17–18. He had a tattoo of a marijuana leaf and a grim reaper, which are symbols commonly used by Mexican cartel drug traffickers.

Minutes (Cleveringa report at 6); Conf. App. 11. These facts support that Valdez was a significant drug trafficker deserving of harsh punishment regardless of his immigration status.

The district court made clear that the nature of Valdez's offense—not his immigration status—was the primary purpose for imposing a prison sentence. His attorney suggested that "if he was here as a United States citizen, I think that probation would be something that would definitely be a possibility." Tr. p. 30, lines 6–9; App. 26. But the district court expressly rejected that suggestion:

I want to address some of your comments. The statement that you think this Court would give a U.S. citizen with the same record a suspended sentence is not accurate. 180 pounds of marijuana is one big deal, and it's – he's a danger to the community....

Tr. p. 32, line 21 – p. 33, line 1; App. 28–29. This explanation demonstrates the court would have imposed the same sentence of imprisonment on a United States citizen. The deciding factor was the 184 pounds of marijuana, not Valdez's immigration status.

This Court does not need to create a "more muscular" test. The primary reason for Valdez's sentence was the 184-pound quantity of marijuana he possessed, indicating he was a significant drug trafficker who presented a danger to the community. His imminent

deportation for that offense provided an additional reason to deny probation, but it was not the "sole factor" or "primary reason" for his sentence. Consequently, Valdez fails to demonstrate an abuse of the sentencing court's wide discretion.

CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm Guillermo Avalos Valdez's sentence.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

Oral argument is not necessary to review the sentencing court's exercise of discretion denying probation for the defendant who was caught trafficking 184 pounds of drugs.